

Canadian Journal of Health Technologies

June 2023 Volume 3 Issue 6

# CADTH Horizon Scan

# An Overview of Pharmacogenomic Testing for Psychiatric Disorders

**Emerging Health Technologies** 





Authors: Calvin Young, Danielle MacDougall

Acknowledgement: Abdullah Al Maruf, BPharm, MPharm, PhD, Senior Research Scientist, University of Calgary

ISSN: 2563-6596

**Disclaimer:** The information in this document is intended to help Canadian health care decision-makers, health care professionals, health systems leaders, and policymakers make well-informed decisions and thereby improve the quality of health care services. While patients and others may access this document, the document is made available for informational purposes only and no representations or warranties are made with respect to its fitness for any particular purpose. The information in this document should not be used as a substitute for professional medical advice or as a substitute for the application of clinical judgment in respect of the care of a particular patient or other professional judgment in any decision-making process. The Canadian Agency for Drugs and Technologies in Health (CADTH) does not endorse any information, drugs, therapies, treatments, products, processes, or services.

While care has been taken to ensure that the information prepared by CADTH in this document is accurate, complete, and up-to-date as at the applicable date the material was first published by CADTH, CADTH does not make any guarantees to that effect. CADTH does not guarantee and is not responsible for the quality, currency, propriety, accuracy, or reasonableness of any statements, information, or conclusions contained in any third-party materials used in preparing this document. The views and opinions of third parties published in this document do not necessarily state or reflect those of CADTH.

CADTH is not responsible for any errors, omissions, injury, loss, or damage arising from or relating to the use (or misuse) of any information, statements, or conclusions contained in or implied by the contents of this document or any of the source materials.

This document may contain links to third-party websites. CADTH does not have control over the content of such sites. Use of third-party sites is governed by the third-party website owners' own terms and conditions set out for such sites. CADTH does not make any guarantee with respect to any information contained on such third-party sites and CADTH is not responsible for any injury, loss, or damage suffered as a result of using such third-party sites. CADTH has no responsibility for the collection, use, and disclosure of personal information by third-party sites.

Subject to the aforementioned limitations, the views expressed herein are those of CADTH and do not necessarily represent the views of Canada's federal, provincial, or territorial governments or any third-party supplier of information.

This document is prepared and intended for use in the context of the Canadian health care system. The use of this document outside of Canada is done so at the user's own risk.

This disclaimer and any questions or matters of any nature arising from or relating to the content or use (or misuse) of this document will be governed by and interpreted in accordance with the laws of the Province of Ontario and the laws of Canada applicable therein, and all proceedings shall be subject to the exclusive jurisdiction of the courts of the Province of Ontario, Canada.

The copyright and other intellectual property rights in this document are owned by CADTH and its licensors. These rights are protected by the Canadian *Copyright Act* and other national and international laws and agreements. Users are permitted to make copies of this document for non-commercial purposes only, provided it is not modified when reproduced and appropriate credit is given to CADTH and its licensors.

About CADTH: CADTH is an independent, not-for-profit organization responsible for providing Canada's health care decision-makers with objective evidence to help make informed decisions about the optimal use of drugs, medical devices, diagnostics, and procedures in our health care system.

Funding: CADTH receives funding from Canada's federal, provincial, and territorial governments, with the exception of Quebec.

Questions or requests for information about this report can be directed to Requests@CADTH.ca



## **Table of Contents**

Key Messages	5
Purpose	5
Methods	6
Literature Search Strategy	6
Study Selection	6
Peer Review	6
Background	6
The Technology	7
Availability and Guidelines	8
Regulations	9
Guidelines on the Clinical Implementation of Pharmacogenomic Testing	9
Pharmacogenomics Prescribing Information Knowledgebase	10
Cost	12
Who Might Benefit and Potential Impact	12
Summary of the Evidence	13
Clinical Effectiveness	13
Cost-Effectiveness	
Patients' Perspectives and Experiences	
Issues to Consider	
Uncertain Evidence and Inconsistent Guidelines	
Clinician Education and Training	20
Potential to Amplify Existing Health Inequities	20
Privacy and Confidentially	20
Final Remarks	21
References	22
Appendix 1: Pharmacogenomic Tests for Psychiatric Disorders Available in Canada	30



## List of Tables

Table 1: Gene-Drug Pairs With Actionable Recommendations From CPIC, DPWG, Health Canada,	
and the FDA <sup>a</sup>	11
Table 2: Examples of Pharmacogenomic Tests for Psychiatric Disorders Available in Canada	30



## **Key Messages**

- Pharmacogenomic testing is a precision medicine technology that examines genetic variation in medication metabolism. Selected for inclusion in <u>CADTH's 2023 Watch List</u>, pharmacogenomic testing has the potential to significantly influence the landscape of health care in Canada over the next 5 years. By analyzing an individual's unique genetic profile, this testing aims to guide personalized treatment strategies that improve therapeutic outcomes, optimize the medication selection process, and enhance patient experiences. The integration of pharmacogenomic testing into clinical practice may pave the way for a more efficient and effective delivery of mental health care.
- Pharmacogenomic tests for psychiatric disorders that are available in Canada include direct-toconsumer tests — which are paid out of pocket — and tests that are offered as a laboratory service (which may or may not be paid out of pocket). These tests are quite different from each other, including the types and number of genes examined, cost of testing, and methods used for sample collection and analysis.
- Despite being available for approximately 20 years and that numerous guideline-developing groups and regulators have issued recommendations about the types of pharmacogenomic information that should be used to guide prescribing decisions, pharmacogenomic testing has yet to be integrated into most psychiatric care practices in Canada and worldwide. Although some studies suggest pharmacogenomic testing provides benefits over treatment as usual, the evidence is often conflicting and of limited quality. Concerns related to risk of bias, inconsistency across studies, reproducibility, and generalizability do not allow a clear and consistent interpretation of the results.
- This Horizon Scan provides an overview of information related to pharmacogenomic testing for psychiatric disorders, a description of some of the published studies, and a summary of some important considerations related to clinician education and training, privacy and confidentiality of health data, health equity, and laboratory capacity should testing become more widely used in Canada.

## Purpose

The purpose of this Horizon Scan is to present health care stakeholders in Canada with an overview of information related to:

- the use of pharmacogenomic testing for informing the treatment of psychiatric disorders
- a description of some of the published studies
- and a summary of some important considerations related to the potential implementation of the technology.

This report is not a systematic review and does not involve critical appraisal or include a detailed summary of study findings. It is not intended to provide recommendations for or against the use of the technology.



## Methods

#### Literature Search Strategy

An information specialist conducted a literature search on key resources including MEDLINE, Embase, PsycINFO, the Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews, the International HTA Database, the websites of Canadian and major international health technology agencies, as well as a focused internet search. The search approach was customized to retrieve a limited set of results, balancing comprehensiveness with relevancy. The search strategy comprised both controlled vocabulary, such as the National Library of Medicine's MeSH (Medical Subject Headings), and keywords. Search concepts were developed based on the elements of the research questions and selection criteria. The main search concepts were pharmacogenetics and psychiatric disorders (including but not limited to, anxiety disorders, mood disorders, personality disorders, neurodevelopmental disorders, substance use disorders, and trauma disorders). No filters were applied to limit the retrieval by study type. The search was completed on January 27, 2023, and limited to English-language documents published since January 1, 2020.

#### **Study Selection**

One author screened the literature search results and reviewed the full text of all potentially relevant studies. Studies were considered for inclusion if the intervention was pharmacogenomic testing used for people with psychiatric disorders or related conditions for which care is typically provided by a psychiatrist or psychiatric care specialist (e.g., attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder [ADHD], autism spectrum disorder). Conference abstracts and grey literature were included when they provided additional information to that available in the published studies.

#### **Peer Review**

A draft version of this Horizon Scan was reviewed by 1 clinical expert with expertise in pharmacogenomics and precision pharmacotherapy.

## Background

Psychiatric disorders encompass a wide range of conditions that impact an individual's thoughts, feelings, perceptions, behaviour, or mood. Common categories of psychiatric disorders include depressive disorders, bipolar and related disorders, anxiety disorders, trauma- and stressor-related disorders, psychotic disorders, dissociative disorders, eating disorders, and personality disorders.<sup>1</sup> Although each psychiatric disorder is characterized by different sets of symptoms, they are generally associated with distress, emotional problems, social dysfunction, and decreased productivity, functionality, and quality of life.<sup>2-4</sup> Estimates suggest that approximately 1 in 5 people in Canada experience mental illness each year, and when both the direct (e.g., costs of hospitalizations, physician visits, medication) and indirect costs (e.g., costs due to loss productivity) to society are considered, the economic impact of psychiatric disorders in Canada exceeds \$50 billion per year.<sup>5</sup>



Treatment strategies for psychiatric disorders often involve psychotherapy and pharmacotherapy. There are more than 200 pharmacotherapies available for treating psychiatric disorders, many of which have unique cellular targets and mechanisms of action.<sup>6,7</sup> Although many people with psychiatric disorders can manage their symptoms with pharmacological interventions, it can be challenging to find the most appropriate treatment for each patient due to the wide array of available drugs and the large interindividual variability in response.<sup>8,9</sup> For example, it has been reported that a clinically significant response is not reached with initial antidepressant medication in as many as 50% of people with major depressive disorder.<sup>10</sup> Consequently, many people with psychiatric disorders go through a trial-and-error process, during which drugs and doses are sequentially trialled before a suitable regimen of pharmacotherapy is found that can help adequately manage symptoms.<sup>11</sup> The trial-and-error phase is often characterized by poor symptom control and adverse side effects, which can cause dissatisfaction and treatment discontinuation.<sup>11-13</sup>

Precision medicine, also known as personalized medicine, is an approach that tailors treatment decisions based on individual differences in genetics, lifestyle, and other factors.<sup>14</sup> Pharmacogenomics, which is the study of how genes affect a person's response to particular drugs, is 1 of the core elements of precision medicine. Genetic variations can influence the absorption, distribution, metabolism, and excretion of medications.<sup>15</sup> These variations contribute to the interindividual variability in response to psychotropic medications and are therefore particularly relevant in the field of psychiatry.<sup>15,16</sup> Testing for genetic variations in genes of interest before initiating pharmacotherapy can provide clinicians with additional information to consider when making prescribing decisions. Although this approach is not a part of the current standard of care for people with psychiatric disorders in Canada, it has the potential to minimize the trial-and-error phase and improve patient experiences.<sup>17</sup> Recognizing this, <u>CADTH's 2023 Watch List</u><sup>18</sup> acknowledges pharmacogenomic testing for mental health conditions as a top 10 precision medicine technology that has the potential to make a significant and meaningful impact in transforming health systems in Canada over the next 5 years.

This Horizon Scan provides an overview of:

- pharmacogenomic testing for psychiatric disorders
- a summary of some of the clinical and cost-effectiveness evidence
- perspectives on early considerations should emerging evidence demonstrate the value of pharmacogenomic testing.

## The Technology

Pharmacogenomic testing analyzes target genes for polymorphisms that affect the function of proteins identified as playing a role in drug metabolism, including drug metabolizing enzymes, receptor proteins, and drug transporting enzymes.<sup>19</sup> Genetic polymorphisms are naturally occurring changes in the nucleotide sequence of the DNA. Although many polymorphisms do not cause any changes to the proteins that the DNA sequence codes for, some polymorphisms can result in altered protein function and have physiologic consequences.<sup>20</sup> Information from pharmacogenomic testing can be incorporated into the prescribing



process because an individual's genetic profile may predict which medications are most likely to result in desired outcomes (e.g., treatment response) or to have the lowest risk of adverse events.<sup>21</sup>

A classic example of genetic variation leading to observable changes in the way medications are metabolized is the cytochrome P450 superfamily of enzymes. Depending on the genetic polymorphisms present, individuals can be classified as poor metabolizers, intermediate metabolizers, extensive metabolizers, or ultra-rapid metabolizers.<sup>22</sup> Poor metabolizers are more likely to experience adverse reactions from drugs that are processed by cytochrome P450 enzymes, while ultra-rapid metabolizers are more likely to not to respond at all to normal doses because the drug is rapidly cleared from their system.<sup>22</sup>

Pharmacogenomic tests use a sample of saliva, blood, or a buccal (cheek) swab as a source of genetic material. Once collected, the sample is processed through a series of steps that result in DNA extraction, purification, and genotyping.<sup>23</sup> The results of genotyping are then relayed to the care provider. Pharmacogenomic tests can be performed on single genes or can provide an analysis of multiple genes at once. Using proprietary algorithms, many pharmacogenomic tests that include multigene panels provide colour-coded assessments of the suitability of medications based on results of testing.<sup>24</sup> For example, medications categorized as green can be prescribed as directed and yellow-coded drugs have the potential for moderate gene-drug interactions.<sup>24</sup>

Pharmacogenomic testing has applications in many fields of medicine, including cardiology, endocrinology, gastroenterology, hematology, immunology, neurology, oncology, and psychiatry.<sup>25</sup> For the purpose of this report, we aimed to summarize information on pharmacogenomic testing for psychiatric conditions (e.g., depressive disorders, anxiety disorders, psychotic disorders) and other related conditions for which care is typically provided by a psychiatrist or psychiatric care specialist (e.g., ADHD, autism spectrum disorder). Information on other conditions, such as those that would primarily be managed by a neurologist or other clinical specialty (e.g., tic disorders, epilepsy, dementia, cancer, cardiovascular disorders), was considered out of scope.

## **Availability and Guidelines**

Although widespread implementation and adoption of pharmacogenomic testing for informing the treatment of psychiatric disorders has not yet occurred,<sup>17,26</sup> several health facilities in Canada offer clinical pharmacogenomic testing through research programs, including the Hospital for Sick Children, BC Children's Hospital, the University of Montreal, Western University, the University of Calgary, the University of Alberta, and the Centre for Addictions and Mental Health.<sup>17,27</sup> In addition to these programs, there are a wide range of commercial pharmacogenomic testing options available in Canada as direct-to-consumer tests.<sup>17</sup> A description of some pharmacogenomic tests available in Canada with applicability in mental health is provided in <u>Appendix 1, Table 2</u>.



#### Regulations

The regulation of pharmacogenomic tests is complex and can be under the purview of federal or provincial authorities, depending on the nature of the test.<sup>28</sup> Commercial pharmacogenomic tests that are marketed as test kits and that qualify as in vitro diagnostic devices (i.e., diagnostic tests performed using medical equipment and accessories on clinical samples, such as blood, urine, saliva, and tissue derived from the human body) are required to have regulatory approval by Health Canada as a Class III medical device.<sup>28:30</sup> To qualify as an in vitro diagnostic device, the test kit includes the reagents required to process the sample and receive the test result, similar to most pregnancy tests (i.e., the sample is not sent to a laboratory for analysis).<sup>28</sup> However, there are currently no pharmacogenomic tests for psychiatric disorders that meet these criteria in Canada, meaning that commercially available tests are not subject to regulatory approval by Health Canada. Tests that are offered as laboratory services, or that were developed in-house at hospitals or other clinical settings, are subject to regulation by provincial authorities.<sup>28:29</sup> Alternatively, pharmacogenomic tests that are processed in a laboratory outside of Canada (i.e., the sample is collected in Canada and sent outside of Canada for analysis) do not undergo any regulatory scrutiny in Canada.<sup>29</sup>

#### Guidelines on the Clinical Implementation of Pharmacogenomic Testing

To facilitate the implementation of pharmacogenomic testing into clinical practice, several organizations and professional societies have produced evidence-based guidelines that offer recommendations about when testing is appropriate and provide guidance about how an individual's genotype status can be used to inform treatment selection or dosing decisions. This guidance is particularly important because pharmacogenomic testing is relatively uncommon in routine clinical practice, and many clinicians may not have the specialized knowledge and expertise in genetics and pharmacology needed to interpret test results accurately and effectively incorporate them into treatment decisions.<sup>31</sup>

The most comprehensive pharmacogenomic testing guidelines available are published by the Clinical Pharmacogenetics Implementation Consortium (CPIC) and the Dutch Pharmacogenetics Working Group (DPWG).<sup>32</sup> Although these guidelines do not recommend any specific pharmacogenomic tests, they serve as a resource for clinicians to gain an understanding of what pharmacogenomic information is clinically actionable during the prescribing process. The advice from these guidelines is based on findings from studies that have examined the associations between genetic variants and pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic parameters or clinical outcomes.

The CPIC guidelines are designed to help clinicians understand how available genetic test results should be used to optimize drug therapy. The international consortium of experts has produced more than 25 guidelines that provide recommendations on various gene-drug interactions,<sup>33</sup> including guidelines on:

- selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors<sup>34</sup>
- tricyclic antidepressants<sup>35</sup>
- atomoxetine<sup>36</sup>
- and mood stabilizers.37



Similarly, the DPWG is a multidisciplinary team that includes clinical pharmacists, physicians, clinical pharmacologists, clinical chemists, epidemiologists, and toxicologists who aimed to develop pharmacogenomic-based therapeutic dose recommendations that could be integrated into drug prescription and medication surveillance systems.<sup>38</sup> The group published their original guidelines in 2008<sup>39</sup> and subsequently updated their guidelines in 2011.<sup>38</sup> Since 2011, the DPWG have maintained and updated their guidelines on their Farmacogenetica website as the evidence continues to evolve. Relevant to the field of psychiatry, their guidelines include dosing recommendations on various antidepressants (e.g., amitriptyline, citalopram, escitalopram, paroxetine) and antipsychotics (e.g., aripiprazole, brexpiprazole, risperidone, zuclopenthixol).<sup>38</sup>

Guidelines produced by CPIC and the DPWG have received endorsements from a number of professional associations in Canada and internationally, including the Canadian Paediatric Society,<sup>40</sup> the American Society of Health-System Pharmacists,<sup>41</sup> the American Society for Clinical Pharmacology & Therapeutics,<sup>42</sup> the European Association for Clinical Pharmacology and Therapeutics,<sup>43</sup> and the European Association of Hospital Pharmacists.<sup>43</sup>

Guidelines on the appropriate use of pharmacogenomic testing in psychiatry have also been published by the International Society of Psychiatric Genetics and the Dutch Clinical Psychiatric Association. In 2021, a group of experts convened by the International Society of Psychiatric Genetics described when the use of pharmacogenomic testing to inform medication selection and dosing of several commonly used antidepressant and antipsychotic medications is supported by evidence and key considerations and limitations related to the use of pharmacogenomic testing in psychiatry.<sup>27</sup> Their guidelines suggest that pharmacogenomic testing to guide treatment selection and dosing is supported in several clinical contexts, including for antidepressants, antipsychotics, anticonvulsants, and the ADHD medication atomoxetine.<sup>27</sup> Similarly, the Dutch Clinical Psychiatric Association have published guidance on how to best use genotyping in clinical psychiatric practice, including when to genotype, how to request genotyping, which genes to investigate, and how to interpret genotype results.<sup>44</sup>

In addition to clinical guidelines, product labels from regulatory agencies, such as the FDA, Health Canada, the Swiss Agency for Therapeutic Products, the European Medicines Agency, and the Pharmaceuticals and Medical Devices Agency in Japan, provide recommendations on when pharmacogenomic information should be considered when making treatment selection or dosing decisions.<sup>27</sup>

#### Pharmacogenomics Prescribing Information Knowledgebase

Information from clinical guidelines and products labels is available on the <u>Pharmacogenomics</u>. <u>Knowledgebase (PharmGKB)</u> website, which is a resource funded by the US National Institutes of Health that collects, curates, and disseminates pharmacogenomic evidence.<sup>16,45</sup> A list of gene-drug pairs with variant-specific prescribing guidance supported by a high level of evidence (i.e., level of evidence of 1A according to the PharmGKB annotation scoring system) is provided in <u>Table 1</u>.<sup>16,31,46,47</sup>

Despite the numerous guidelines and product labels that can be used to help clinicians decide which genetic polymorphisms are clinically actionable, there is little to no guidance available on who should be tested



and when it is most appropriate to test (e.g., before starting a first-line medication, following inadequate response or side effects from medication).<sup>31</sup> Additional guidance on who should be tested and when they should be tested may encourage further adoption of pharmacogenomic testing into psychiatric practices.

Table 1: Gene-Drug Pairs With Actionable Recommendations From CPIC, DPWG, Healt	h
Canada, and the FDA <sup>a</sup>	

		Variant-specific prescribing guidance <sup>b</sup>			
Gene	Psychotropic drug	CPIC	DPWG	FDA	HC
CYP2B6	Sertraline	Yes	No	No	No
CYP2C9	Fosphenytoin	Yes	No	Yes	No
	Phenytoin	Yes	Yes	No	No
CYP2C19	Amitriptyline	Yes	No	No	No
	Citalopram	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
	Clomipramine	Yes	Yes	No	No
	Doxepin	Yes	No	Yes	No
	Escitalopram	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
	Imipramine	Yes	Yes	No	No
	Sertraline	Yes	Yes	No	No
	Trimipramine	Yes	No	No	No
CYP2D6	Amitriptyline	Yes	Yes	Yes	No
	Aripiprazole	No	Yes	Yes	Yes
	Atomoxetine	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
	Clomipramine	Yes	Yes	Yes	No
	Desipramine	Yes	No	Yes	No
	Doxepin	Yes	Yes	Yes	No
	Fluvoxamine	Yes	No	Yes	No
	Haloperidol	No	Yes	No	No
	Imipramine	Yes	Yes	Yes	No
	Nortriptyline	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
	Paroxetine	Yes	Yes	No	No
	Risperidone	No	Yes	No	No
	Trimipramine	Yes	No	Yes	No
	Venlafaxine	Yes	Yes	Yes	No
	Vortioxetine	Yes	No	Yes	Yes
	Zuclopenthixol	No	Yes	No	No
CYP3A4	Quetiapine	No	Yes	No	No



		Variant-specific prescribing guidance <sup>b</sup>			
Gene	Psychotropic drug	CPIC	DPWG	FDA	HC
HLA-A	Carbamazepine	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
HLA-B	Carbamazepine	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
	Fosphenytoin	Yes	No	Yes	Yes
	Lamotrigine	No	Yes	No	No
	Oxcarbazepine	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
	Phenytoin	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes

CPIC = Clinical Pharmacogenetics Implementation Consortium; DPWG = Dutch Pharmacogenetics Working Group; HC = Health Canada.

<sup>a</sup>Only gene-drug combinations with a high level of evidence supporting the association that have prescribing guidance for specific variants in a current clinical guideline annotation or an FDA-approved drug label were included (i.e., level of evidence of 1A according to the PharmGKB annotation scoring system).

<sup>b</sup>Variant-specific prescribing guidance from CPIC, DPWG, FDA, and HC were identified from the Pharmacogenomics Knowledgebase (PharmGKB). Drug labels from the FDA and HC coded as "actionable," "testing recommended," or "testing required" in the Pharmacogenomics Knowledgebase were considered actionable (i.e., labels coded as "informative" were not considered actionable).

## Cost

The costs associated with pharmacogenomic testing differ across tests and can be affected by factors such as the methods of sample collection (e.g., blood drawn versus self-collected saliva), the complexity of genetic analysis (e.g., single gene versus multigene), and how the test results are communicated.<sup>48,49</sup>

A 2020 Canadian study<sup>17</sup> examined the cost of 13 pharmacogenomic tests relevant to psychiatry that were available in Canada. The study reported that the cost for each test ranged from \$199 to \$2,310, with a median cost of \$499.<sup>17</sup> These prices did not include any costs associated with the interpretation of the test results by a clinician for prescribing decisions or any additional expenses, such as applicable taxes or shipping fees. The study did not investigate the factors responsible for the variability in test pricing. The authors noted that at the time of the study, pharmacogenomic testing was not covered by health insurance plans in Canada, but that many employer-based health-spending accounts list pharmacogenomic testing as an eligible expense and were piloting the use of pharmacogenomic testing for individuals with mental health-related disability claims, suggesting that it may become eligible for reimbursement in the future.<sup>17</sup>

## Who Might Benefit and Potential Impact

The use of pharmacogenomic testing has the potential to benefit a wide variety of people who are starting a new pharmacological treatment for psychiatric disorders, including people with treatment-resistant conditions, with a family history of poor response to specific medications, who are using multiple medications and may be at risk for drug-drug interactions, and who have experienced serious treatment-related side effects in the past.<sup>50,51</sup> Although the proportion of people in Canada who are diagnosed with psychiatric disorders and have clinically actionable gene variants (as defined by the available guidelines) is unclear, 1 in 5 people in Canada experience mental illness each year, and approximately 75% of people with a mood or anxiety disorder diagnosis have reported that they are receiving treatment with psychotherapeutic



drugs.<sup>52</sup> One study<sup>53</sup> estimated that genetic testing for *CYP2C19* and *CYP2D6* variants could influence treatment decisions in up to one-third of individuals receiving pharmacotherapy for depression in Canada. In 2021, more than 120 million prescriptions for antidepressants, anxiolytics, antipsychotics, and psychostimulants were dispensed in Canadian community pharmacies for various psychiatric disorders.<sup>54</sup> The significant number of individuals in Canada undergoing pharmacotherapy for psychiatric disorders highlights the potential role that pharmacogenomic testing could play in many treatment decisions.<sup>5,55,56</sup>

## Summary of the Evidence

We aimed to review the published literature that assessed the comparative clinical effectiveness and costeffectiveness of pharmacogenomic tests for guiding the treatment of psychiatric disorders compared with treatment as usual (i.e., no pharmacogenomic testing to guide medication selection). Additionally, we sought studies that have evaluated patients' perspectives and experiences related to pharmacogenomic testing. Because the clinical evidence about the use of pharmacogenomic testing varies by patient population, the findings are presented by psychiatric disorder. When available, the emerging evidence summarized in published health technology assessments (HTAs) or systematic reviews was prioritized. If there were no HTAs or systematic reviews identified for a condition , the findings from primary clinical studies (both randomized and nonrandomized) were described.

There are many gene-drug association studies that examine the relationship between genetic polymorphisms and response to pharmacotherapies for various disorders, including depression,<sup>57-59</sup> bipolar disorder,<sup>60,61</sup> substance use disorders,<sup>62-65</sup> schizophrenia spectrum disorders,<sup>66</sup> ADHD,<sup>67-69</sup> obsessive-compulsive disorder,<sup>70</sup> anxiety disorders,<sup>71,72</sup> autism spectrum disorder,<sup>73,74</sup> post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD),<sup>75</sup> and alcohol withdrawal syndrome.<sup>76</sup> Although these studies may be informative for the development of pharmacogenomic tests because they identify genes of potential interest, these studies were not reviewed in this report.

This Horizon Scan report is not a systematic review of the evidence, the studies included were not critically appraised, and it does not endorse any information, pharmacogenomic test, or technology.

#### **Clinical Effectiveness**

#### **Mood Disorders**

Relative to other psychiatric disorders, the clinical effectiveness of pharmacogenomic testing for mood disorders, including major depressive disorder, bipolar disorder, and other depressive disorders, appears to have the largest volume of clinical studies published to date.

#### Major Depressive Disorder

Ontario Health conducted a HTA<sup>29</sup> on multigene pharmacogenomic testing that includes decisionsupport tools to guide medication selection for major depression. The clinical evidence review included 14 interventional studies that evaluated 6 unique multigene pharmacogenomic tests compared with treatment as usual in a total of 3,262 participants.<sup>29</sup> The findings suggested that the use of multigene



pharmacogenomic testing to guide medication selection for major depression showed inconsistent effectiveness.<sup>29</sup> Overall, testing resulted in little to no difference in depressive symptoms compared with treatment as usual.<sup>29</sup> However, some specific tests may improve response to treatment or remission from symptoms.<sup>29</sup> The authors indicated that these tests are a heterogenous class of interventions and that each individual test has different effectiveness compared with treatment as usual.<sup>29</sup> Additionally, the authors noted that the evidence was uncertain, and that these observed effects may not reflect the true effects of the intervention.<sup>29</sup> After consideration of the evidence described in the HTA and based on the guidance of the Ontario Health Technology Advisory Committee, Ontario Health recommended against publicly funding multigene pharmacogenomic testing that includes decision-support tools for guiding medication selection for people with major depression.<sup>77</sup>

More recently, a systematic review and meta-analysis by Skryabin et al.  $(2022)^{78}$  included 5 randomized controlled trials (RCTs) (N = 2,200) that examined the effects of pharmacogenomic decision-support tools in people undergoing pharmacotherapy for major depressive disorder. The results of the meta-analysis suggested that people who received therapy guided by pharmacogenomic testing experienced improved response rates and remission rates after both 8 and 12 weeks of therapy compared with those who received unguided pharmacotherapy.<sup>78</sup>

#### Mixed Depressive Disorders

A systematic review with meta-analysis<sup>79</sup> published in 2023 examined the effectiveness of pharmacogenomic tests that include *CYP2D6* and *CYP2C19* genomic variants for guiding the treatment of mixed depressive disorders. Based on evidence from 12 RCTs that included a total of 5,685 participants, the authors concluded that the use of pharmacogenomic testing that includes *CYP2D6* and *CYP2C19* genomic variants for guiding the treatment of depressive disorders improved depressive symptoms, response rates, and remission rates compared with treatment as usual.<sup>79</sup> Similar results were described in other systematic reviews,<sup>80,81</sup> including a 2022 systematic review and meta-analysis by Brown and colleagues,<sup>80</sup> which included data from 4,767 participants of 13 primary studies. The authors concluded that pharmacogenomic-guided antidepressant therapy is associated with a modest but significant increase in depressive symptom remission compared with treatment as usual in adults with major depressive disorder.<sup>80</sup>

One systematic review<sup>82</sup> analyzed studies of patients with major depressive disorder and bipolar disorder separately, conducting a meta-analysis for each patient group. The findings from the meta-analysis for patients with major depressive disorder, which included data from 3,462 participants enrolled in 6 primary studies, indicated that people who were treated using therapies guided by pharmacogenomic testing experienced significantly higher response rates and remission rates.<sup>82</sup> For patients with bipolar disorder, the findings from the meta-analysis (which included a total of 223 participants from 2 studies) indicated that there were no significant differences between treatment guided by pharmacogenomic testing and treatment as usual with respect to efficacy.<sup>82</sup>

In addition to these systematic reviews, CADTH previously conducted 2 Rapid Reviews<sup>83,84</sup> on the clinical effectiveness of pharmacogenomic testing for people with depression. Findings of these previous reports suggested that the available evidence was inconclusive because the included studies reported mixed results



(i.e., some studies suggested pharmacogenomic testing improved outcomes while others suggested there was no difference between pharmacogenomic testing and treatment as usual).<sup>83,84</sup> Additional details on the methodology and findings of these CADTH reports are available in the reports.<sup>83,84</sup>

It is important to take into consideration the significant overlap in the primary studies that are included in these reviews when interpreting their findings. The inclusion of data from primary studies across multiple evidence syntheses could cause double counting of data from the same primary studies, leading to a biased interpretation of the results.

#### Schizophrenia

In a single-blind RCT,<sup>85</sup> 311 people aged 18 years or older who were diagnosed within the schizophrenia spectrum were randomized to receive antipsychotic drug treatment guided by pharmacogenomic testing, antipsychotic drug treatment guided by structured clinical monitoring, or treatment as usual. Within the pharmacogenomic testing group, attending psychiatrists were provided information on patients' cytochrome P450 2D6 and 2C19 (*CYP2D6* and *CYP2C19*) genotype, which could be used to inform prescription decisions based on the CYP guidelines.<sup>85</sup> Participants within the structured clinical monitoring group were assessed for treatment effects, adverse effects, and attitudinal and behavioural factors influencing patient adherence routinely, which could be used to adjust treatment selection or dosing if deemed appropriate.<sup>85</sup> Participants in the control group received standard care, assessment of symptoms at fixed time points was not required, and the CYP test results were concealed.<sup>85</sup> The study found that there was no significant difference in antipsychotic drug persistence (i.e., the time in days to the first modification of the initial antipsychotic treatment) between the pharmacogenomic-guided group and the control group, suggesting the prescribing that was guided by pharmacogenomic testing did not improve tolerability or effectiveness.<sup>85</sup>

#### Autism Spectrum Disorders

An observational cohort study by Arranz and colleagues<sup>86</sup> examined the effectiveness of a pharmacogenomic intervention that evaluated genetic variants in *CYP1A2*, *CYP2C19*, *CYP2D6*, and *SLC6A4* genes in people with autism spectrum disorders. A total of 42 individuals with treatment-resistant autism spectrum disorders were included in the intervention group, while 62 individuals with autism spectrum disorders were included in the control group that received no pharmacogenomic intervention.<sup>86</sup> Of the 42 individuals in the pharmacogenomic testing group, 39 (93%) experienced improvement in their Clinical Global Impression (CGI) scores, and 37 (88%) experienced improvement in their Children's Global Assessment Scale (CGAS) scores. The proportion of people who experienced treatment response was higher in the intervention group than in the control group, in which 41 individuals (66%) were classified as responders (i.e., they had improvements in CGI and CGAS scores after treatment).<sup>86</sup>

#### **Mixed Populations**

Several studies have examined the clinical effectiveness of pharmacogenomic testing in patient populations with a variety of psychiatric disorders or comorbid disorders.

Papastergiou and colleagues conducted a single-blind RCT<sup>87</sup> that evaluated the impact of pharmacogenomicguided therapy versus standard antidepressant therapy in 213 adult outpatients diagnosed with major



depressive disorder or generalized anxiety disorder. After measuring outcomes of depression, anxiety, disability, and treatment satisfaction at baseline and at up to 6 months postrandomization, the authors concluded that participants who received pharmacogenomic-guided treatment (N = 103) experienced greater improvements in depressive symptoms, generalized anxiety symptoms, and disability than those who received standard treatment (N = 108).<sup>87</sup>

A single-centre, double-blind RCT by Zastrozhin et al.  $(2020)^{88}$  included 118 male participants with affective disorders and comorbid alcohol use disorder. After recruitment, participants were randomized to receive treatment with fluvoxamine, mirtazapine, or carbamazepine in doses recommended by pharmacogenomic testing (N = 70) or treatment as usual (N = 48), in which the treating physicians were provided a report for each patient that indicated the individual had normal genotypes. After 16 days of treatment, there were statistically significant between-group differences in self-reported depressive symptoms and side effects that favoured the pharmacogenomic-guided group.<sup>88</sup>

A single-centre RCT by Claudio-Campos and colleagues<sup>89</sup> allocated 49 people (younger than 20 years) **attending a child psychiatric clinic** to receive care that was guided by pharmacogenomic testing (N = 25) or treatment as usual (N = 24). Participants had a primary diagnosis of ADHD, anxiety, depression, or obsessive-compulsive disorder. The authors concluded that the implementation of pharmacogenomic testing was feasible and well accepted by families and physicians; however, there were no significant between-group differences in global impairment, antidepressant-related adverse events, depressive symptoms, obsessive-compulsive symptoms, or anxiety symptoms over the 12-week follow-up period.<sup>89</sup>

Similar findings were observed in 2 nonrandomized studies.<sup>90,91</sup> In a single-centre, retrospective casecontrol study<sup>90</sup> of **children and adolescents** between the ages of 4 and 18 years with various psychiatric disorders, including major depressive disorders, ADHD, generalized anxiety disorder, or multiple disorders, the authors found no difference in clinical improvement between the group who received care guided by pharmacogenomic testing (N = 126) and the treatment as usual control group (N = 129).<sup>90</sup> King and colleagues conducted a single-centre, open-label, prospective cohort study<sup>91</sup> that included 75 adult inpatients at a short-term acute care unit for severe depression and anxiety. Participants were diagnosed with a wide range of psychiatric disorders, including depressive disorders, bipolar disorder, panic disorder, obsessivecompulsive disorder, PTSD, adjustment disorder, eating disorders, substance use disorders, and borderline personality disorder. Participants were assigned to receive care guided by a pharmacogenomic assay or treatment as usual. After the 3-month follow-up period, there were no significant between-group differences in any of the 3 primary outcome measures (i.e., depressive symptoms, anxiety symptoms, readmission).<sup>91</sup>

#### **Cost-Effectiveness**

Many clinical studies have examined the utility of pharmacogenomic testing for informing treatment selection in people with psychiatric disorders; however, there is a high level of uncertainty about the clinical effectiveness of pharmacogenomic testing due to the heterogeneity of tests, patient populations, and outcome measures and the mixed or conflicting results reported in clinical trials, which may limit the reliability of subsequent economic evaluations. Regardless, cost-effectiveness evidence may be useful to



health care decision-makers, particularly economic evaluations that are conducted using parameters from Canadian settings.

A 2021 systematic review<sup>92</sup> of economic evaluations included 18 studies published between 2005 and 2019 that assessed the cost-effectiveness of pharmacogenomic testing to inform pharmacological treatment (including antidepressants and antipsychotics) versus treatment as usual in adults with psychiatric illness. Included studies assessed several populations, including people with:

- major depressive disorder (7 studies)
- schizophrenia (4 studies)
- depression and anxiety (3 studies)
- a variety of psychiatric disorders (4 studies).92

The majority of the included studies (11 of 18) were by authors in the US. Twelve of the studies examined pharmacogenomic tests that examined a panel of multiple genes, including commercially available tests (e.g., GeneSight, NeurolDgenetix, IDgenetix), whereas 6 studies evaluated pharmacogenomic interventions that analyzed single genes for clinically actionable polymorphisms, most often the *CYP2D6* or *CYP2C19* genes. Of the 18 studies included in the systematic review, 17 drew conclusions in favour of pharmacogenomic testing. Among them, 10 studies indicated that pharmacogenomic testing was likely to be cost-effective, while 7 studies reported that it could lead to cost savings.<sup>92</sup> These 17 studies were specific to populations with major depressive disorder, schizophrenia, or a variety of psychiatric disorders.<sup>92</sup> However, 1 study reported that pharmacogenomic testing was not cost-effective for individuals with major depressive disorder.<sup>92</sup> The authors of the systematic review suggested that pharmacogenomic testing can contribute to reducing health care costs by decreasing:

- adverse drug reactions
- the number of drug switches and recurrent dose adjustments
- the time until disease remission
- disease burden and related costs.92

Within the 18 included studies, there was a high degree of variation with respect to study designs, population characteristics, model structures, time horizon, perspectives, sources of clinical inputs, sources of cost data, methods for expressing currency and price data, and willingness-to-pay thresholds.<sup>92</sup>

The generalizability of these findings to Canadian settings is unclear because the cost-effectiveness of pharmacogenomic testing is expected to be context-specific and to be influenced by many factors, including but not limited to the local costs associated with administering and interpreting pharmacogenomic testing and the prescribing practices of clinicians who provide psychiatric care.

To determine the cost-effectiveness of pharmacogenomic testing in Canada, Tanner and colleagues<sup>93</sup> conducted an economic evaluation on the use of combinatorial pharmacogenomic testing (which uses weighted algorithms) to guide the treatment of moderate to severe major depression compared with treatment as usual from the Canadian public payer perspective. Using a 5-year time horizon, the base-case



model projected that patients whose treatment was informed by combinatorial pharmacogenomic testing would gain an additional 0.17 quality-adjusted life-years and would result in cost savings of \$2,431 compared with those who received treatment as usual.<sup>93</sup> The study concluded that combinatorial pharmacogenomic testing was less costly and more effective (i.e., dominant) compared with treatment as usual for moderate to severe major depression.<sup>93</sup>

#### Patients' Perspectives and Experiences

Studies exploring patients' perspectives and experiences have suggested that people are generally optimistic toward the potential for therapeutic benefit from pharmacogenomic testing in the field of psychiatry.<sup>94-97</sup> However, patients have expressed some concerns, such as fear of discrimination, reliance on medication, and difficulty related to being informed of the potential for poor treatment response due to genetic profile.

A survey-based study<sup>95</sup> of 170 veterans with depressive symptoms in the US aimed to assess motivations and attitudes around pharmacogenomic testing. Although the authors noted that pharmacogenomic testing in patients with treatment-refractory depression is largely well tolerated, some patients experienced fear of discrimination based upon the test results.<sup>95</sup> For example, participants expressed concerns that identifying a gene linked to serious mental health illness could potentially affect their family's access to health insurance or lead to employment-related consequences.<sup>95</sup> Additionally, respondents indicated that they may have difficulty coping with genetic test results because it could be overwhelming to be informed that poor treatment response is likely given an individual's genetic profile.<sup>95</sup>

Participants of a qualitative study<sup>96</sup> that interviewed 17 residents of British Columbia with a history of depression and antidepressant use suggested there is a need for an authority (e.g., the BC Ministry of Health) to evaluate the evidence on the benefits and harms of pharmacogenomic testing and to provide oversight to ensure testing is provided in a safe and regulated manner.<sup>96</sup> Furthermore, patients expressed concerns that pharmacogenomic testing might lead to an over-reliance on medication rather than exploring nonpharmacological interventions, which would limit the opportunity for patients to contribute to treatment decisions.<sup>96</sup>

## **Issues to Consider**

#### **Uncertain Evidence and Inconsistent Guidelines**

One of the most commonly cited barriers to the implementation of pharmacogenomic testing into psychiatric care practices is the overall paucity of high-quality, published evidence validating gene-drug interactions and assessing the clinical utility of pharmacogenomic testing in guiding treatment decisions.<sup>31,98-100</sup>

#### **Methodological Limitations**

Pharmacogenomic tests are marketed to people with a wide range of psychiatric and related disorders, including depression, bipolar disorder, anxiety disorders, schizophrenia, psychosis, PTSD, ADHD, obsessive-compulsive disorder, and autism spectrum disorders; however, there is a lack of high-quality reproducible evidence validating the utility of pharmacogenomic testing to guide treatment for each of these conditions.<sup>100</sup>



For example, a 2020 review<sup>17</sup> indicated that of 13 pharmacogenomic tests available in Canada, only 2 had had been evaluated in RCTs. It is also common that multiple studies assessing pharmacogenomic testing in similar patient populations have contradictory results (i.e., some studies suggest there is a clinical benefit while others do not).<sup>98,101</sup> This has been attributed to methodological limitations in their study designs, such as inadequate blinding of care providers, small sample sizes, use of heterogenous tests and outcome measures, and lack of controlling for differences in demographic, clinical, and environmental factors in patient cohorts.<sup>77,98,102</sup> In some cases, pharmacogenomic tests incorporate genes that do not have any clinical guidelines or rigorous evidence supporting their clinical validity for predicting treatment outcomes.<sup>103</sup> Data from higher quality clinical studies that address these methodological limitations and knowledge gaps could better inform clinical and policy decisions regarding the role of pharmacogenomic testing in psychiatric care.

#### Generalizability and the Need for Diversity in Research

The generalizability of the available evidence has also been criticized because studies evaluating the utility of pharmacogenomic testing have primarily been conducted in populations of European ancestry.<sup>100,101,104</sup> Although this is a common issue that affects many fields of scientific research,<sup>105</sup> it is particularly concerning in pharmacogenomic research because genetic variation across geographic regions and ethnic groups can have a major influence on the outcomes of drug treatment for psychiatric conditions.<sup>101,104</sup> For example, 2 gene variants of the *PTPRD* (protein tyrosine phosphatase receptor type D) gene have been associated with increased risk of antipsychotic-induced weight gain in Han Chinese people with schizophrenia;<sup>106</sup> however, the presence of these variants could not be validated to predict the risk of antipsychotic-induced weight gain in European or African American patients.<sup>107</sup> Future research on the clinical utility of pharmacogenomic testing results in equitable access to care that can be considered universally applicable.<sup>100,107</sup> Furthermore, the clinical utility of pharmacogenomic testing for initial drug selection and dosing decisions is uncertain because most studies conducted to date have focused on people with major depressive disorder who did not respond to initial pharmacotherapy or developed adverse drug reactions, limiting the generalizability of their findings to other populations or clinical scenarios.<sup>31</sup>

#### **Inconsistent Recommendations**

Uncertainties in the clinical literature have contributed to varied interpretations of the evidence, including inconsistencies in pharmacogenomic recommendations published by the CPIC and the DPWG, regulatory agencies (e.g., FDA, Health Canada), and professional societies.<sup>108-110</sup> In many cases, 1 source may suggest modifications to the dosing of pharmacotherapy based on the presence of a gene variant, whereas another source may not deem the same gene-drug pair as clinically actionable.<sup>108,109</sup> One study has suggested that nearly half of pharmacogenomic recommendations from reporting sources in the US (e.g., CPIC and the FDA) were inconsistent.<sup>107</sup> Consistent and clear information from regulators and guideline-producing organizations might facilitate proper implementation of pharmacogenomic testing in clinical practice.<sup>108-110</sup>



#### **Clinician Education and Training**

Improved clinician education and training have been identified as essential for the successful implementation of pharmacogenomic testing in psychiatric care settings.<sup>31,100,111-116</sup> A mixed methods study conducted in 4 long-term care homes in Ontario following the implementation of a pharmacogenomic testing program reported that physicians' limited familiarity with pharmacogenomics and CPIC prescribing guidelines acted as a barrier to the implementation of the testing program.<sup>111</sup> Similar findings were described in a survey-based study conducted in Alberta, in which pediatric psychiatrists and pediatricians were asked about their pharmacogenomic testing knowledge and attitudes.<sup>117</sup> Generally, respondents indicated they had limited familiarity with pharmacogenomic testing, and that they would be interested in education and training opportunities that could facilitate the implementation of pharmacogenomic testing into their practice, particularly opportunities that would provide information on how testing results should be interpreted and the current recommendations for prescribing.<sup>117</sup> Several studies conducted in other jurisdictions, including Brazil<sup>112</sup> and the US,<sup>113,114</sup> have also suggested that clinicians who provide psychiatric care want to increase their understanding of pharmacogenomic testing to implement testing in a clinically meaningful way.<sup>100,116</sup>

Clinician education and training for physicians in training could be addressed by incorporating additional pharmacogenomic testing into medical school curricula and medical residency programs.<sup>113,117</sup> To aid in the education and training of practising clinicians, continuing medical education opportunities about emerging clinical trial data, best practices for communicating test results to clients, treatment algorithms, and dosing recommendations from CPIC and other expert bodies may help to facilitate the appropriate adoption of pharmacogenomic testing.<sup>100,113,114,116</sup>

#### Potential to Amplify Existing Health Inequities

For many people in Canada, pharmacogenomic testing for psychiatric disorders is not covered by public or private health insurance plans, meaning that testing is an out-of-pocket expense.<sup>17,31</sup> Clinicians and patients have expressed concerns that the cost of testing could exacerbate health inequities because people with the ability to pay could have access to higher quality care than those who cannot.<sup>31,94,96,117,118</sup> Furthermore, there is potential for pharmacogenomic tests to provide inequitable benefits to patients if they have not been validated in diverse populations. Race, ethnicity, ancestry, age, gender, and other factors have been cited as important considerations during the development of pharmacogenomic tests to reduce bias and support equitable outcomes for all.<sup>96</sup> People at the intersections of having the ability to pay and who are from groups that are underrepresented in clinical trials of pharmacogenomic tests have greater potential for experiencing widening health inequities.

#### **Privacy and Confidentially**

Pharmacogenomic testing involves the collection and storage of massive amounts of sensitive health data, and the privacy and security of these data are essential. To ease concerns related to the handling of data, providers of pharmacogenomic testing should seek informed consent before testing, ensure high standards for data security and protection are upheld, adhere to laws and regulations relevant to the privacy of personal information (e.g., the *Privacy Act*, the *Personal Information Protection and Electronic Documents Act*, and the



*Freedom of Information and Protection of Privacy Act*), and only use data for purposes that are relevant to patient care and for which patient consent has been obtained.<sup>96,119</sup>

The Privacy Commissioner of Canada provides a description of the key privacy risks associated with directto-consumer genetic tests and a list of questions for consumers to consider before participating in testing.<sup>120</sup>

## **Final Remarks**

Pharmacogenomic testing is an emerging technology with the potential to optimize the therapeutic benefit of medications based on an individual's genetic profile. In the field of psychiatry, it can serve as a useful tool to minimize the trial-and-error phase of psychotropic prescribing, which could reduce adverse events and improve patient experiences.<sup>17</sup> Despite being available for approximately 20 years and that numerous recommendations from guideline-developing groups and regulators have been issued about the types of pharmacogenomic information that should be used to guide prescribing decisions, pharmacogenomic testing has yet to be integrated into most psychiatric care practices in Canada and worldwide.<sup>17,27,121</sup> This limited uptake of the technology has been partly attributed to the scarcity of high-quality studies that have provided a reliable assessment of the clinical and cost-effectiveness of these tools.<sup>98-100</sup>

Given the high prevalence of psychiatric disorders, their impact on the lives of people living with mental illness, the substantial economic burden associated with untreated or poorly treated mental illness (exceeding \$50 billion annually in Canada),<sup>5</sup> and the potential for pharmacogenomic testing to optimize medication selection, additional research is warranted to validate the utility of pharmacogenomic testing for psychiatric disorders. Specifically, robustly designed studies are needed to overcome the limitations associated with the current evidence, including concerns related to risk of bias, reproducibility, and generalizability. Findings from ongoing investigator-initiated trials<sup>122-126</sup> may provide valuable insights and help overcome some of the identified limitations of the current evidence.

Health inequities exist across health care systems, particularly in mental health, including access to care, use of care services, and outcomes achieved through care.<sup>127,128</sup> Although pharmacogenomic testing has not been widely adopted in Canada, there are numerous pharmacogenomic tests available on the commercial market. Considering the potential for mental health to make people vulnerable or to further increase their vulnerability to systemic inequities, pharmacogenomic testing services may already be exacerbating existing inequities, an issue that could be amplified if the broad implementation of testing occurs without care.

As the evidence regarding the use of pharmacogenomic testing for psychiatric disorders continues to evolve, implementors of this technology should consider issues related to clinician education and training, privacy and confidentiality of health data, and the potential for testing to exacerbate existing health inequities. Should pharmacogenomic testing be widely adopted, it has potential applicability in a high volume of treatment decisions. Health systems may need to consider expanding testing capacities by augmenting existing laboratory infrastructure, including testing equipment and personnel to conduct and interpret pharmacogenomic tests.

### References

- 1. Regier DA, Kuhl EA, Kupfer DJ. The DSM-5: classification and criteria changes. World Psychiatry. 2013;12(2):92-98. PubMed
- National Collaborating Centre for Mental Health (UK). 2. Common mental health disorders. In: Common mental health disorders: identification and pathways to care. (*NICE Clinical guideline CG123*). Leicester (UK): British Psychological Society (UK); 2011: <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK92254/</u>. Accessed 2023 Feb 13.
- 3. de Oliveira C, Saka M, Bone L, Jacobs R. The role of mental health on workplace productivity: a critical review of the literature. *Appl Health Econ Health Policy*. 2023;21(2):167-193. <u>PubMed</u>
- 4. Connell J, Brazier J, O'Cathain A, Lloyd-Jones M, Paisley S. Quality of life of people with mental health problems: a synthesis of qualitative research. *Health Qual Life Outcomes*. 2012;10:138. <u>PubMed</u>
- RiskAnalytica, Smetanin P, Stiff D, et al. The life and economic impact of major mental illnesses in Canada. Ottawa (ON): Mental Health Commission of Canada; 2011: <u>https://www.mentalhealthcommission.ca/wp-content/uploads/drupal/MHCC\_Report</u> <u>Base\_Case\_FINAL\_ENG\_0\_0.pdf</u>. Accessed 2023 Feb 13.
- 6. Mosse U, Chaumette B, Wils J, Imbert L, Lamoureux F, Ferrafiat V. Evidence of pharmacogenetics-based fluvoxamine use as an add-on to clozapine treatment in psychiatry. *Pharmacogenomics*. 2022;23(11):649-654. <u>PubMed</u>
- 7. Sheffler Zs, Patel P, Abdijadid S. Antidepressants. In: StatPearls [Internet]. Treasure Island (FL): StatPearls Publishing; 2022: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK538182/. Accessed 2023 Feb 08.
- Leichsenring F, Steinert C, Rabung S, Ioannidis JPA. The efficacy of psychotherapies and pharmacotherapies for mental disorders in adults: an umbrella review and meta-analytic evaluation of recent meta-analyses. *World Psychiatry*. 2022;21(1):133-145. <u>PubMed</u>
- 9. Hiemke C, Shams M. Phenotyping and genotyping of drug metabolism to guide pharmacotherapy in psychiatry. *Curr Drug Deliv.* 2013;10(1):46-53. PubMed
- 10. Rush AJ, Trivedi MH, Wisniewski SR, et al. Acute and longer-term outcomes in depressed outpatients requiring one or several treatment steps: a STAR\*D report. *Am J Psychiatry.* 2006;163(11):1905-1917. PubMed
- 11. Leuchter AF, Cook IA, Hunter AM, Korb AS. A new paradigm for the prediction of antidepressant treatment response. *Dialogues Clin Neurosci.* 2009;11(4):435-446. <u>PubMed</u>
- 12. van Westrhenen R, Ingelman-Sundberg M. Editorial: From trial and error to individualised pharmacogenomics-based pharmacotherapy in psychiatry. *Front Pharmacol.* 2021;12:725565. <u>PubMed</u>
- Mago R, Fagiolini A, Weiller E, Weiss C. Understanding the emotions of patients with inadequate response to antidepressant treatments: results of an international online survey in patients with major depressive disorder. *BMC Psychiatry*. 2018;18(1):33. <u>PubMed</u>
- 14. Akhoon N. Precision medicine: a new paradigm in therapeutics. Int J Prev Med. 2021;12:12. PubMed
- 15. Belle DJ, Singh H. Genetic factors in drug metabolism. Am Fam Physician. 2008;77(11):1553-1560. PubMed
- 16. van Schaik RHN, Müller DJ, Serretti A, Ingelman-Sundberg M. Pharmacogenetics in psychiatry: an update on clinical usability. *Front Pharmacol.* 2020;11:575540. <u>PubMed</u>
- Maruf AA, Fan M, Arnold PD, Muller DJ, Aitchison KJ, Bousman CA. Pharmacogenetic testing options relevant to psychiatry in Canada: Options de tests pharmacogenetiques pertinents en psychiatrie au Canada. *Can J Psychiatry*. 2020;65(8):521-530. <u>PubMed</u>
- 18. Basharat S, Smith A, Darvesh N, Rader T. 2023 watch list: top 10 precision medicine technologies and issues. *Can J Health Technol.* 2023;3(3). <u>https://www.canjhealthtechnol.ca/index.php/cjht/article/view/ER0013/ER0013</u>. Accessed 2023 Mar 14.
- 19. Ahmed S, Zhou Z, Zhou J, Chen SQ. Pharmacogenomics of drug metabolizing enzymes and transporters: relevance to precision medicine. *Genomics Proteomics Bioinformatics*. 2016;14(5):298-313. PubMed
- Mahdieh N, Rabbani B. An overview of mutation detection methods in genetic disorders. Iran J Pediatr. 2013;23(4):375-388. <u>PubMed</u>



- 21. Pirmohamed M. Personalized pharmacogenomics: predicting efficacy and adverse drug reactions. *Annu Rev Genomics Hum Genet*. 2014;15:349-370. PubMed
- 22. Zhao M, Ma J, Li M, et al. Cytochrome P450 enzymes and drug metabolism in humans. *Int J Mol Sci.* 2021;22(23):12808. PubMed
- 23. Dawes M, Aloise MN, Ang JS, et al. Introducing pharmacogenetic testing with clinical decision support into primary care: a feasibility study. *CMAJ Open*. 2016;4(3):E528-E534. <u>PubMed</u>
- Namerow LB, Ramsey LB, Malik S, Cortese S, Strawn JR. Editorial: beyond red light, green light: examining the role of pharmacogenomics in evidence-based care in child and adolescent psychiatry. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry. 2022;61(1):29-31. <u>PubMed</u>
- 25. Hippman C, Nislow C. Pharmacogenomic testing: clinical evidence and implementation challenges. *J Pers Med.* 2019;9(3):40. PubMed
- 26. Anderson HD, Thant TM, Kao DP, Crooks KR, Mendola ND, Aquilante CL. Pharmacogenetic testing among patients with depression in a US managed care population. *Clin Transl Sci.* 2022;15(7):1644-1653. <u>PubMed</u>
- 27. Bousman CA, Bengesser SA, Aitchison KJ, et al. Review and consensus on pharmacogenomic testing in psychiatry. *Pharmacopsychiatry*. 2021;54(1):5-17. <u>PubMed</u>
- Joly Y, Ramos-Paque E. Approval of new pharmacogenomic tests: is the Canadian regulatory process adequate? Can J Law Technol. 2010;8(2):3. <u>https://digitalcommons.schulichlaw.dal.ca/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1119&context=cjlt</u>. Accessed 2023 Feb 23.
- 29. Ontario Health. Multi-gene pharmacogenomic testing that includes decision-support tools to guide medication selection for major depression: a health technology assessment. *Ont Health Technol Assess Ser.* 2021;21(13):1-214. <u>https://www.hqontario.ca/Portals/0/Documents/evidence/reports/hta-multi-gene-pharmacogenomic-testing-that-includes-decision-support-tools-to-guide-medication-selection-for-major-depression.pdf. Accessed 2023 May 24. <u>PubMed</u></u>
- 30. Notice Revision to guidance document: submission of pharmacogenomic information. Ottawa (ON): Health Canada; 2008: <u>https://www.canada.ca/en/health-canada/services/drugs-health-products/biologics-radiopharmaceuticals-genetic-therapies/applications-submissions/guidance-documents/submission-pharmacogenomic-information.html. Accessed 2023 Feb 23.</u>
- 31. Maruf AA, Bousman CA. Approaches and hurdles of implementing pharmacogenetic testing in the psychiatric clinic. *PCN Rep.* 2022;1(2):e26.
- 32. Zanardi R, Manfredi E, Montrasio C, Colombo C, Serretti A, Fabbri C. Pharmacogenetic-guided treatment of depression: real-world clinical applications, challenges, and perspectives. *Clin Pharmacol Ther.* 2021;110(3):573-581. <u>PubMed</u>
- 33. CPIC. Guidelines. 2022; https://cpicpgx.org/guidelines/. Accessed 2023 Feb 27.
- 34. Hicks JK, Bishop JR, Sangkuhl K, et al. Clinical Pharmacogenetics Implementation Consortium (CPIC) guideline for CYP2D6 and CYP2C19 genotypes and dosing of selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors. *Clin Pharmacol Ther.* 2015;98(2):127-134. <u>PubMed</u>
- 35. Hicks JK, Sangkuhl K, Swen JJ, et al. Clinical pharmacogenetics implementation consortium guideline (CPIC) for CYP2D6 and CYP2C19 genotypes and dosing of tricyclic antidepressants: 2016 update. *Clin Pharmacol Ther.* 2017;102(1):37-44. PubMed
- 36. Brown JT, Bishop JR, Sangkuhl K, et al. Clinical Pharmacogenetics Implementation Consortium guideline for cytochrome P450 (CYP)2D6 genotype and atomoxetine therapy. *Clin Pharmacol Ther.* 2019;106(1):94-102. <u>PubMed</u>
- 37. Karnes JH, Rettie AE, Somogyi AA, et al. Clinical Pharmacogenetics Implementation Consortium (CPIC) guideline for CYP2C9 and HLA-B genotypes and phenytoin dosing: 2020 update. *Clin Pharmacol Ther.* 2021;109(2):302-309. <u>PubMed</u>
- 38. Swen JJ, Nijenhuis M, de Boer A, et al. Pharmacogenetics: from bench to byte--an update of guidelines. *Clin Pharmacol Ther.* 2011;89(5):662-673. PubMed
- 39. Swen JJ, Wilting I, de Goede AL, et al. Pharmacogenetics: from bench to byte. Clin Pharmacol Ther. 2008;83(5):781-787. PubMed
- 40. Rasekh SR, Rieder M, Jong G, Canadian Paediatric Society, Drug Therapy and Hazardous Substances Committee. Position statement: gene-based drug therapy in children. Ottawa (ON): Canadian Paediatric Society; 2023: <u>https://cps.ca/en/documents/</u> <u>position/gene-based-drug-therapy-in-children</u>. Accessed 2023 Apr 17.



- 41. American Society of Health-System Pharmacists. Endorsed documents. 2023; <u>https://www.ashp.org/pharmacy-practice/policy</u> -positions-and-guidelines/browse-by-document-type/endorsed-documents. Accessed 2023 Apr 17.
- 42. American Society for Clinical Pharmacology & Therapeutics. Tools and resources. 2023; <u>https://www.ascpt.org/Resources/</u> Knowledge-Center/Tools-and-resources. Accessed 2023 Apr 17.
- 43. Lunenburg CATC, van der Wouden CH, Nijenhuis M, et al. Dutch Pharmacogenetics Working Group (DPWG) guideline for the gene-drug interaction of DPYD and fluoropyrimidines. *Eur J Hum Genet*. 2020;28(4):508-517. <u>PubMed</u>
- 44. van Westrhenen R, van Schaik RHN, van Gelder T, et al. Policy and practice review: a first guideline on the use of pharmacogenetics in clinical psychiatric practice. *Front Pharmacol.* 2021;12:640032. <u>PubMed</u>
- 45. PharmGKB. 2023; https://www.pharmgkb.org/. Accessed 2023 Feb 27.
- 46. Bousman C, Maruf AA, Müller DJ. Towards the integration of pharmacogenetics in psychiatry: a minimum, evidence-based genetic testing panel. *Curr Opin Psychiatry*. 2019;32(1):7-15. <u>PubMed</u>
- 47. PharmGKB. Pharmacogenomics Knowledgebase. 2023; https://www.pharmgkb.org/. Accessed 2023 Apr 18.
- 48. Morris SA, Alsaidi AT, Verbyla A, et al. Cost effectiveness of pharmacogenetic testing for drugs with Clinical Pharmacogenetics Implementation Consortium (CPIC) guidelines: a systematic review. *Clin Pharmacol Ther.* 2022;112(6):1318-1328. <u>PubMed</u>
- 49. Litinski V. How to get a pharmacogenetic test in Canada. *PillCheck* 2021; <u>https://www.pillcheck.ca/2016/10/07/get</u> -<u>pharmacogenetic-test-canada/#:~:text=How%20much%20does%20pharmacogenetic%20testing,results%20are%20delivered</u> %20and%20maintained. Accessed 2023 Mar 03.
- 50. Collins AR, Kung S, Ho JT, et al. Pharmacogenetic testing in psychiatric inpatients with polypharmacy is associated with decreased medication side effects but not via medication changes. *J Psychiatr Res.* 2020;126:105-111. <u>PubMed</u>
- 51. Gross T, Daniel J. Overview of pharmacogenomic testing in clinical practice. Ment Health Clin. 2018;8(5):235-241. PubMed
- 52. O'Donnell S, Syoufi M, Jones W, Bennett K, Pelletier L. Use of medication and psychological counselling among Canadians with mood and/or anxiety disorders. *Health Promot Chronic Dis Prev Can*. 2017;37(5):160-171. <u>https://www.canada.ca/en/public -health/services/reports-publications/health-promotion-chronic-disease-prevention-canada-research-policy-practice/vol-37-no-5 -2017/use-medication-psychological-counselling-canadians-with-mood-anxiety-disorders.html. Accessed 2023 Mar 13. <u>PubMed</u></u>
- 53. Fan M, Bousman CA. Estimating the potential impact of CYP2C19 and CYP2D6 genetic testing on protocol-based care for depression in Canada and the United States. *Mol Neuropsychiatry*. 2020;5(Suppl 1):27-33. PubMed
- 54. Medication treatments for mental health disorders in Canada: an independent IQVIA report on drug utilization data, 2019-2021. Kirkland (QC): IQVIA; 2022: <u>https://www.iqvia.com/-/media/iqvia/pdfs/canada/white-paper/medication-treatments-for-mental</u> <u>-health-disorders-in-canada.pdf</u>. Accessed 2023 Mar 13.
- Shmed Z, Hao S, Williamson T, McMorris CA, Bousman CA. Psychotropic prescribing rates and pharmacogenomic testing implications for autism in the Canadian primary care sentinel surveillance network. *Pharmacogenet Genomics*. 2022;32(3):94-100. <u>PubMed</u>
- 56. Fan M, Yarema MC, Box A, Hume S, Aitchison KJ, Bousman CA. Identification of high-impact gene-drug pairs for pharmacogenetic testing in Alberta, Canada. *Pharmacogenet Genomics*. 2021;31(2):29-39. <u>PubMed</u>
- 57. Calabro M, Fabbri C, Kasper S, et al. Metabolizing status of CYP2C19 in response and side effects to medications for depression: results from a naturalistic study. *Eur Neuropsychopharmacol.* 2022;56:100-111. PubMed
- 58. Campos AI, Byrne EM, Mitchell BL, et al. Impact of CYP2C19 metaboliser status on SSRI response: a retrospective study of 9500 participants of the Australian Genetics of Depression Study. *Pharmacogenomics J.* 2022;22(2):130-135. <u>PubMed</u>
- 59. Thiele LS, Ishtiak-Ahmed K, Thirstrup JP, et al. Clinical impact of functional CYP2C19 and CYP2D6 gene variants on treatment with antidepressants in young people with depression: a Danish cohort study. *Pharmaceuticals (Basel)*. 2022;15(7):870. PubMed
- 60. Anmella G, Vilches S, Espadaler-Mazo J, et al. Genetic variations associated with long-term treatment response in bipolar depression. *Genes (Basel)*. 2021;12(8):1259. PubMed



- 61. Cuellar-Barboza AB, McElroy SL, Veldic M, et al. Potential pharmacogenomic targets in bipolar disorder: considerations for current testing and the development of decision support tools to individualize treatment selection. *Int J Bipolar Disord*. 2020;8(1):23. PubMed
- 62. Chen YJ, Lu JT, Huang CW, et al. Pharmacogenetic study of methadone treatment for heroin addiction: associations between drug-metabolizing gene polymorphisms and treatment efficacy. *Pharmacogenet Genomics*. 2022;32(1):31-38. <u>PubMed</u>
- 63. Kranzler HR, Lynch KG, Crist RC, et al. A delta-opioid receptor gene polymorphism moderates the therapeutic response to extended-release buprenorphine in opioid use disorder. *Int J Neuropsychopharmacol.* 2021;24(2):89-96. PubMed
- 64. Lohoff FW. Pharmacotherapies and personalized medicine for alcohol use disorder: a review. *Pharmacogenomics*. 2020;21(15):1117-1138. <u>PubMed</u>
- 65. Packiasabapathy S, Aruldhas BW, Horn N, et al. Pharmacogenomics of methadone: a narrative review of the literature. *Pharmacogenomics*. 2020;21(12):871-887. <u>PubMed</u>
- 66. Dobrodeeva VS, Shnayder NA, Novitsky MA, et al. Association of a single-nucleotide variant rs11100494 of the NPY5R gene with antipsychotic-induced metabolic disorders. *Pharmaceutics*. 2022;14(2):222. <u>PubMed</u>
- 67. Gul MK, Sener EF, Onal MG, Demirci E. Role of the norepinephrine transporter polymorphisms in atomoxetine treatment: from response to side effects in children with ADHD. *J Psychopharmacol.* 2022;36(6):715-722. PubMed
- 68. Fu D, Guo HL, Hu YH, et al. Personalizing atomoxetine dosing in children with ADHD: what can we learn from current supporting evidence. *Eur J Clin Pharmacol.* 2023;79(3):349-370. <u>PubMed</u>
- 69. Maruf AA, Stein K, Arnold PD, Aitchison KJ, Muller DJ, Bousman C. CYP2D6 and antipsychotic treatment outcomes in children and youth: a systematic review. *J Child Adolesc Psychopharmacol.* 2021;31(1):33-45. <u>PubMed</u>
- 70. Zai G. Pharmacogenetics of obsessive-compulsive disorder: an evidence-update. *Curr Top Behav Neurosci*. 2021;49:385-398. <u>PubMed</u>
- 71. Yang J, Li S, Lv H, et al. CREB1 and BDNF gene polymorphisms are associated with early treatment response to escitalopram in panic disorder. *J Affect Disord*. 2021;278:536-541. PubMed
- 72. Scherf-Clavel M, Weber H, Deckert J, Erhardt-Lehmann A. The role of pharmacogenetics in the treatment of anxiety disorders and the future potential for targeted therapeutics. *Expert Opin Drug Metab Toxicol.* 2021;17(11):1249-1260. <u>PubMed</u>
- 73. Chamnanphon M, Vanwong N, Prommas S, et al. Risperidone plasma concentrations are associated with hyperprolactinemia in autism spectrum disorder children: the impact of CYP2D6 polymorphisms. *Res Autism Spectr Disord*. 2022;96:102002.
- 74. Yoshida K, Koyama E, Zai CC, et al. Pharmacogenomic studies in intellectual disabilities and autism spectrum disorder: a systematic review. *Can J Psychiatry*. 2021;66(12):1019-1041. PubMed
- 75. Miller MW. Leveraging genetics to enhance the efficacy of PTSD pharmacotherapies. Neurosci Lett. 2020;726:133562. PubMed
- 76. Skryabin VY, Zastrozhin MS, Torrado MV, et al. How do CYP2C19\*2 and CYP2C19\*17 genetic polymorphisms affect the efficacy and safety of diazepam in patients with alcohol withdrawal syndrome? *Drug Metabol Personal Ther.* 2020;35(1):20190026. <u>PubMed</u>
- 77. Multi-gene pharmacogenomic testing that includes decision-support tools to guide medication selection for major depression: recommendation. Toronto (ON): Ontario Health; 2021: <u>https://www.hqontario.ca/Portals/0/documents/evidence/reports/</u> recommendation-multi-gene-pharmacogenomic-testing-that-includes-decision-support-tools-to-guide-medication-selection-for -major-depression-en.pdf. Accessed 2023 Feb 22.
- 78. Skryabin V, Rozochkin I, Zastrozhin M, et al. Meta-analysis of pharmacogenetic clinical decision support systems for the treatment of major depressive disorder. *Pharmacogenomics J.* 2023;23(2-3):45-49. <u>PubMed</u>
- 79. Arnone D, Omar O, Arora T, et al. Effectiveness of pharmacogenomic tests including CYP2D6 and CYP2C19 genomic variants for guiding the treatment of depressive disorders: systematic review and meta-analysis of randomised controlled trials. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev.* 2023;144:104965. <u>PubMed</u>



- Brown LC, Stanton JD, Bharthi K, Maruf AA, Muller DJ, Bousman CA. Pharmacogenomic testing and depressive symptom remission: a systematic review and meta-analysis of prospective, controlled clinical trials. *Clin Pharmacol Ther*. 2022;112(6):1303-1317. <u>PubMed</u>
- Aboelbaha S, Zolezzi M, Elewa H. Effect of pharmacogenetic-based decision support tools in improving depression outcomes: a systematic review. Neuropsychiatr Dis Treat. 2021;17:2397-2419. <u>PubMed</u>
- 82. lelmini M, Caselli I, Critelli F, Mattia M, Bellini A, Callegari C. Efficacy and tolerability of therapies set under pharmacogenetic tools suggestions: a systematic review with meta-analysis about mood disorders. *Psychiatry Res.* 2022;311:114482. <u>PubMed</u>
- 83. Darvesh N, Horton J, Lê M-L. Pharmacogenomic testing in depression: a 2021 update. *Can J Health Technol.* 2022;2(1). <u>https://canjhealthtechnol.ca/index.php/cjht/article/view/rc1403/rc1403</u>. Accessed 2023 Feb 22.
- 84. Li KX, Loshak H. Pharmacogenomic testing in depression: a review of clinical effectiveness, cost-effectiveness, and guidelines. (CADTH rapid response report: summary with critical appraisal). Ottawa (ON): CADTH; 2020: <u>https://www.cadth.ca/sites/default/files/pdf/htis/2020/RC1232%20RxGx%20testing%20depression%20Final.pdf</u>. Accessed 2023 Feb 22.
- 85. Jurgens G, Andersen SE, Rasmussen HB, et al. Effect of routine cytochrome P450 2D6 and 2C19 genotyping on antipsychotic drug persistence in patients with schizophrenia: a randomized clinical trial. JAMA Netw Open. 2020;3(12):e2027909. PubMed
- 86. Arranz MJ, Salazar J, Bote V, et al. Pharmacogenetic interventions improve the clinical outcome of treatment-resistant autistic spectrum disorder sufferers. *Pharmaceutics*. 2022;14(5):999. <u>PubMed</u>
- 87. Papastergiou J, Quilty LC, Li W, et al. Pharmacogenomics guided versus standard antidepressant treatment in a community pharmacy setting: a randomized controlled trial. *Clin Transl Sci.* 2021;14(4):1359-1368. <u>PubMed</u>
- 88. Zastrozhin M, Skryabin V, Sorokin A, et al. Using a pharmacogenetic clinical decision support system to improve psychopharmacotherapy dosing in patients with affective disorders. *Drug Metabol Personal Ther.* 2020;35(4):20190033. <u>PubMed</u>
- 89. Claudio-Campos K, Padron A, Jerkins G, et al. Acceptability, feasibility, and utility of integrating pharmacogenetic testing into a child psychiatry clinic. *Clin Transl Sci.* 2021;14(2):589-598. <u>PubMed</u>
- Elmaadawi AZ, Patel R, Almaaitah Y, Logsdon MG. Effect of pharmacogenomic testing on pediatric mental health outcome: a 6-month follow-up. *Pharmacogenomics*. 2023;24(2):73-82. <u>PubMed</u>
- 91. King CD, Yip AG, Cao YA, et al. Open-label pilot study of psychiatric pharmacogenetic testing in an adult psychiatric inpatient population. *Pers Med Psychiatry*. 2020;21-22:100060.
- 92. Karamperis K, Koromina M, Papantoniou P, et al. Economic evaluation in psychiatric pharmacogenomics: a systematic review. *Pharmacogenomics J.* 2021;21(4):533-541. <u>PubMed</u>
- 93. Tanner JA, Davies PE, Overall CC, Grima D, Nam J, Dechairo BM. Cost-effectiveness of combinatorial pharmacogenomic testing for depression from the Canadian public payer perspective. *Pharmacogenomics*. 2020;21(8):521-531. <u>PubMed</u>
- 94. Liko I, Lai E, Griffin RJ, Aquilante CL, Lee YM. Patients' perspectives on psychiatric pharmacogenetic testing. Pharmacopsychiatry. 2020;53(6):256-261. <u>PubMed</u>
- McCarthy MJ, Chen Y, Demodena A, et al. Attitudes on pharmacogenetic testing in psychiatric patients with treatment-resistant depression. *Depress Anxiety*. 2020;37(9):842-850. <u>PubMed</u>
- 96. Slomp C, Morris E, Edwards L, et al. Pharmacogenomic testing for major depression: a qualitative study of the perceptions of people with lived experience and professional stakeholders. *Can J Psychiatry*. 2022;7067437221140383. <u>PubMed</u>
- Kastrinos A, Campbell-Salome G, Shelton S, Peterson EB, Bylund CL. PGx in psychiatry: patients' knowledge, interest, and uncertainty management preferences in the context of pharmacogenomic testing. *Patient Educ Couns*. 2021;104(4):732-738. <u>PubMed</u>
- 98. Minelli A, Barlati S, Baune BT, European College of Neuropsychopharmacology (ECNP) Pharmacogenomics & Transcriptomics Network. Evaluating study designs and treatment outcomes of antidepressant pharmacogenetic clinical trials - challenges and future perspectives. A critical review. Eur Neuropsychopharmacol. 2022;59:68-81. PubMed
- 99. Rakesh G, Sumner CR, Alexander JL, et al. Pharmacogenomic testing in psychiatry: ready for primetime? *J Nerv Ment Dis.* 2020;208(2):127-130. PubMed



- 100. Virelli CR, Mohiuddin AG, Kennedy JL. Barriers to clinical adoption of pharmacogenomic testing in psychiatry: a critical analysis. *Transl Psychiatry*. 2021;11(1):509. PubMed
- 101. Alchakee A, Ahmed M, Eldohaji L, Alhaj H, Saber-Ayad M. Pharmacogenomics in psychiatry practice: the value and the challenges. *Int J Mol Sci.* 2022;23(21):13485. <u>PubMed</u>
- 102. Shad MU. Genetic testing for antipsychotic pharmacotherapy: bench to bedside. Behav Sci (Basel). 2021;11(7):97. PubMed
- 103. Haga SB, Kantor A. Horizon scan of clinical laboratories offering pharmacogenetic testing. *Health Aff (Millwood)*. 2018;37(5):717-723. <u>PubMed</u>
- 104. González-Andrade F, Michelena S, Pibaque R, Aguinaga-Romero G. Ethnic variations are still underrepresented in neuropharmacogenomics: a systematic review. *Rev Ecuat Neurol.* 2021;30(1):91-103.
- 105. Wendler D, Kington R, Madans J, et al. Are racial and ethnic minorities less willing to participate in health research? *PLoS Med.* 2006;3(2):e19. PubMed
- 106.Yu H, Wang L, Lv L, et al. Genome-wide association study suggested the PTPRD polymorphisms were associated with weight gain effects of atypical antipsychotic medications. *Schizophr Bull.* 2016;42(3):814-823. PubMed
- 107.Islam F, Men X, Yoshida K, Zai CC, Muller DJ. Pharmacogenetics-guided advances in antipsychotic treatment. *Clin Pharmacol Ther.* 2021;110(3):582-588. <u>PubMed</u>
- 108. Filipski KK, Pacanowski MA, Ramamoorthy A, Feero WG, Freedman AN. Dosing recommendations for pharmacogenetic interactions related to drug metabolism. *Pharmacogenet Genomics*. 2016;26(7):334-339. <u>PubMed</u>
- 109. Bank PCD, Caudle KE, Swen JJ, et al. Comparison of the guidelines of the Clinical Pharmacogenetics Implementation Consortium and the Dutch Pharmacogenetics Working Group. *Clin Pharmacol Ther.* 2018;103(4):599-618. <u>PubMed</u>
- 110.Shugg T, Pasternak AL, London B, Luzum JA. Prevalence and types of inconsistencies in clinical pharmacogenetic recommendations among major U.S. sources. *NPJ Genom Med.* 2020;5:48. <u>PubMed</u>
- 111.Dorfman R, London Z, Metias M, Kabakchiev B, Mukerjee G, Moser A. Individualized medication management in Ontario long-term care clinical impact on management of depression, pain, and dementia. J Am Med Dir Assoc. 2020;21(6):823-829. e825. <u>PubMed</u>
- 112. Almeida BC, Goncalves ED, de Sousa MH, Osis M, de Brito Mota MJB, Planello AC. Perception and knowledge of pharmacogenetics among Brazilian psychiatrists. *Psychiatry Res.* 2021;306:114238. <u>PubMed</u>
- 113.Krause DS, Dowd D. Use of a consultation service following pharmacogenetic testing in psychiatry. *Pharmacogenomics*. 2022;23(5):327-333. PubMed
- 114. Manzor Mitrzyk B, Plegue MA, Kadri R, et al. Pharmacogenomic testing for mental health (Part II): qualitative analysis of early adopter prescriber perceptions. *Per Med.* 2021;18(3):233-240. <u>PubMed</u>
- 115. Jameson A, Fylan B, Bristow GC, et al. What are the barriers and enablers to the implementation of pharmacogenetic testing in mental health care settings? *Front.* 2021;12:740216. <u>PubMed</u>
- 116. Mostafa S, Polasek TM, Bousman CA, et al. Pharmacogenomics in psychiatry the challenge of cytochrome P450 enzyme phenoconversion and solutions to assist precision dosing. *Pharmacogenomics*. 2022;23(15):857-867. <u>PubMed</u>
- 117. Jessel CD, Al Maruf A, Oomen A, Arnold PD, Bousman CA. Pharmacogenetic testing knowledge and attitudes among pediatric psychiatrists and pediatricians in Alberta, Canada. J Can Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry. 2022;31(1):18-27. PubMed
- 118.Bousman CA, Oomen A, Jessel CD, et al. Perspectives on the clinical use of pharmacogenetic testing in late-life mental healthcare: a survey of the American Association of Geriatric Psychiatry membership. Am J Geriatr Psychiatry. 2022;30(5):560-571. <u>PubMed</u>
- 119. Manchia M, Pisanu C, Squassina A, Carpiniello B. Challenges and future prospects of precision medicine in psychiatry. *Pharmgenomics Pers Med.* 2020;13:127-140. <u>PubMed</u>
- 120.Direct-to-consumer genetic testing and privacy. Ottawa (ON): Office of the Privacy Commissioner of Canada; 2017: <u>https://www.priv.gc.ca/en/privacy-topics/health-genetic-and-other-body-information/02\_05\_d\_69\_gen/</u>. Accessed 2023 Mar 06.



- 121. Mrazek DA. Psychiatric pharmacogenomic testing in clinical practice. Dialogues Clin Neurosci. 2010;12(1):69-76. PubMed
- 122. Massachusetts General Hospital. NCT03749629: Comparative effectiveness of pharmacogenomics for treatment of depression (CEPIO-D). *ClinicalTrials.gov*. Bethesda (MD): U.S. National Library of Medicine; 2022: <u>https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT03749629</u>. Accessed 2023 Apr 14.
- 123. The University of Melbourne. ACTRN12621000181808: The PRESIDE (PhaRmacogEnomicS In Depression) trial: a doubleblind RCT of pharmacogenomically-informed prescribing of antidepressants on depression outcomes in patients with major depressive disorder in primary care. Camperdown (AU): Australian New Zealand Clinical Trials Registry (ANZCTR); 2022: <u>https:// www.anzctr.org.au/Trial/Registration/TrialReview.aspx?id=380870&isReview=true</u>. Accessed 2023 Apr 14.
- 124. Strawn JR, Poweleit EA, Mills JA, et al. Pharmacogenetically guided escitalopram treatment for pediatric anxiety disorders: protocol for a double-blind randomized trial. *J Pers Med.* 2021;11(11). <u>PubMed</u>
- 125. Cavallari LH, Cicali E, Wiisanen K, et al. Implementing a pragmatic clinical trial to tailor opioids for acute pain on behalf of the IGNITE ADOPT PGx investigators. *Clin Transl Sci.* 2022;15(10):2479-2492. <u>PubMed</u>
- 126. The University of Melbourne. ACTRN12621001374853: The effect of pharmacogenetics on remission rate for severe mood disorders: a randomised controlled trial. Camperdown (AU): Australian New Zealand Clinical Trials Registry (ANZCTR); 2022: https://anzctr.org.au/Trial/Registration/TrialReview.aspx?ACTRN=12621001374853. Accessed 2023 Apr 14.
- 127. Bartram M. Income-based inequities in access to mental health services in Canada. Can J Public Health. 2019;110(4):395-403. PubMed
- 128.Blair A, Siddiqi A, Frank J. Canadian report card on health equity across the life-course: analysis of time trends and crossnational comparisons with the United Kingdom. SSM Popul Health. 2018;6:158-168. PubMed
- 129.23andMe. 23andMe pharmacogenetics reports: what you should know. 2023; <u>https://www.23andme.com/test-info/pharmacogenetics/</u>. Accessed 2023 Apr 13.
- 130. BiogeniQ. Life-changing insights. 2023; https://biogeniq.ca/en/. Accessed 2023 Feb 07.
- 131.Incite. CNSDose test. 2023; https://incitehealth.com.au/en-au/products/cns-dose-test/. Accessed 2023 Feb 06.
- 132. Color Health Inc. Color Extended: the most relevant genes for common hereditary cancers. 2023; <a href="https://www.color.com/learn/color-genes#extended">https://www.color.com/learn/color-genes#extended</a>. Accessed 2023 Feb 07.
- 133.Dynacare. Genecept Assay (Ontario). <u>https://www.dynacare.ca/specialpages/secondarynav/find-a-test/nat/genecept%C2</u> <u>%A0assay.aspx?sr=ont&amp;st=&amp;</u>. Accessed 2023 Feb 06.
- 134. GeneSight. GeneSight® Tests: Psychotropic and MTHFR. 2023; https://genesight.com/product/. Accessed 2023 Feb 06.
- 135.Invitae. Invitae Mental Health Pharmacogenomics Panel. 2023; <u>https://www.invitae.com/en/providers/test-catalog/test-222002</u>. Accessed 2023 Feb 06.
- 136.DNA Labs. MatchMyMeds<sup>™</sup> drug compatibility test. 2022; <u>https://dnalabs.ca/matchmymeds/</u>. Accessed 2023 Feb 07.
- 137.myDNA. 2019; https://www.mydna.life/en-ca/mental-health-medication/. Accessed 2023 Feb 07.
- 138.Neurofarmagen. 2022; https://neurofarmagen.com/. Accessed 2023 Feb 06.
- 139. Espadaler J, Tuson M, Lopez-Ibor JM, Lopez-Ibor F, Lopez-Ibor MI. Pharmacogenetic testing for the guidance of psychiatric treatment: a multicenter retrospective analysis. CNS Spectr. 2017;22(4):315-324. PubMed
- 140. Inagene Diagnostics Inc. Inagene. 2023; https://inagene.com/. Accessed 2023 Feb 06.
- 141.Pillcheck. Product information. 2023; <u>https://www.pillcheck.ca/product-information/#1572900301684-4d290a78-73c9</u>. Accessed 2023 Feb 06.
- 142. OneOme. Personalized prescriptions with the RightMed® Solution. 2023; <a href="https://oneome.com/home-international/">https://oneome.com/home-international/</a>. Accessed 2023 Feb 07.
- 143.Personalized Prescribing Inc. Rx Report<sup>™</sup> Psychiatry & Pain. 2023; <u>https://personalizedprescribing.com/en-us/products/rx</u> <u>-report%E2%84%A2-psychiatry-pain</u>. Accessed 2023 Feb 07.



144. GenXys. Conditions and medications. 2021; https://www.genxys.com/conditions-and-medications/. Accessed 2023 Feb 07.

## Appendix 1: Pharmacogenomic Tests for Psychiatric Disorders Available in Canada

Table 2: Exam	ples of Pharmacoc	enomic Tests for P	sychiatric Disorders	Available in Canada

Test	Availability	Target conditions	Genes analyzed	Medications included in the test results
23andMe Pharmacogenetics Reports (23andMe, Inc., US)	Available in Canada as a direct-to-consumer test <sup>129</sup>	Depression <sup>129</sup>	CYP2C19, DPYD, SLCO1B <sup>129</sup>	Citalopram <sup>129</sup>
BiogeniQ Kit: All Pharma Profiles (BiogeniQ Inc., Canada)	Available in Canada as a direct-to-consumer test <sup>17</sup>	Psychiatric disorders, including ADHD <sup>130</sup>	CESI, CYP1A2, CYP2B6, CYP2C9, CYP2C19, CYP2D6, CYP3A4, CYP3A5, LPHN3, OPMR1, POR, SLCO1B1, TH, VKORC1 <sup>17</sup>	Psychostimulants (e.g., amphetamine, dextroamphetamine), atypical antidepressants (e.g., bupropion), tricyclic antidepressants, SSRIs, benzodiazepines, atypical antipsychotics (e.g., risperidone, quetiapine), antipsychotics, alpha-2 adrenergic agonists (e.g., clonidine, guanfacine), noradrenaline reuptake inhibitor (e.g., atomoxetine), and hypnotics (e.g., zolpidem) <sup>130</sup>
CNSDose (Incite Health Pty Ltd., Australia)	Available in Canada as a direct-to-consumer test <sup>131</sup>	Psychiatric disorders, patients with general medical conditions, patients with polypharmacy, and patients with depression and co- occurring conditions <sup>81,131</sup>	15 genes, including <i>ABCB1,</i> <i>ABCC1, CYP1A2, CYP2B6, CYP2C9,</i> <i>CYP2C19, CYP2D6, CYP3A5,</i> <i>SLC01B1,</i> and <i>UGT1A1</i> <sup>81,131</sup>	Anti-ADHD agents, antidepressants, antipsychotics, anxiolytics, hypnotics, mood stabilizers, anticonvulsants, other psychotropics, and non-psychotropics <sup>81,131</sup>
Colour Extended (Colour Health Inc., US)	Available in Canada as a direct-to-consumer test <sup>17</sup>	Analyzes genes associated with cancers, cardiac conditions, and medication metabolism <sup>132</sup>	CYP1A2, CYP2C19, CYP2C9, CYP2D6, CYP3A4, CYP3A5, CYP4F2, DPYD, F5, IFNL3, NUDT15, SLC01B1, TPMT, VKORC1 <sup>17,132</sup>	Unclear which medications are included in the test results
Genecept Assay (Genomind, US)	Available in Canada through a health care provider <sup>17</sup>	Depression, anxiety, OCD, ADHD, bipolar disorder, PTSD, autism spectrum disorder, schizophrenia, chronic pain, and substance abuse	CYP2C19, CYP2C9, CYP2D6, CYP2B6, CYP1A2, CYP3A4, CYP3A5, SLC6A4, CACNA1C, ANK3, 5HT2C, MC4R, DRD2, COMT, ADRA2A, MTHFR, BDNF, OPRM1, GRIK1 <sup>81</sup>	Many pharmacotherapies, including SSRIs, atypical antidepressants, SNRIs, antipsychotics, mood stabilizers, stimulants, and topiramate <sup>133</sup>



Test	Availability	Target conditions	Genes analyzed	Medications included in the test results
GeneSight Psychotropic (Myriad Neuroscience, US)	Available in Canada through a health care provider <sup>17</sup>	Depression, anxiety, ADHD, and other mental health conditions	CYP2D6, CYP2C19, CYP2C9, CYP3A4, CYP2B6, CYP1A2, UGT1A4, UGT2B15 4, SLC6A4, HTR2A, HLA-A*3101, HLA-B*1502 <sup>81</sup>	More than 60 psychotropic medications <sup>134</sup>
Invitae Mental Health Pharmacogenomics Panel (Invitae Corporation, US)	Available in Canada as a direct-to-consumer test <sup>135</sup>	Depression, anxiety, and other mental health disorders <sup>135</sup>	COMT, CYP1A2, CYP2B6, CYP2C19, CYP2C9, CYP2D6, CYP3A4, CYP3A5, GRIK4, HLA-A, HLA-B, HTR2A, HTR2C, MTHFR, UGT2B15, UGT2B15 <sup>135</sup>	Unclear which medications are included in the test results
MatchMyMeds Drug Compatibility Test (DNALabs Canada Inc., Canada)	Available in Canada as a direct-to-consumer test <sup>17</sup>	Analyzes genes related to drugs used for pain and migraine, oncology, psychiatry, gastroenterology and immunology <sup>136</sup>	CYP2C19, CYP2C9, CYP2D6, CYP3A5, F5, SLC01B1, VKORC1 <sup>17</sup>	Unclear which medications are included in the test results
myDNA Medication Test Kit (myDNA Life Ltd., Australia)	Available in Canada through a health care provider <sup>17</sup>	Mental health conditions, pain, cardiovascular conditions, and gastrointestinal disorders <sup>137</sup>	CYP1A2, CYP2C9, CYP2C19, CYP2D6, CYP3A4, CYP3A5, OPRM1, SLCO1B1, VKORC1 <sup>17</sup>	Unclear which medications are included in the test results
Neuropharmagen (InSource Diagnostics, US)	Available in Canada through a health care provider <sup>17</sup>	Psychiatric disorders, including major depression, psychotic disorders, generalized anxiety disorder, and bipolar disorder <sup>138,139</sup>	CYP2C19, CYP2C9, CYP2D6, CYP2B6, CYP1A2, CYP3A4, CYP3A5, SLC6A4, CACNA1C, ANK3, 5HT2C, MC4R, DRD2, COMT, ADRA2A, MTHFR, BDNF, OPRM1, GRIK1 <sup>81</sup>	59 psychotropic medications <sup>81</sup>
Personalized Insights Precision Pain & Mental Health (Inagene Diagnostics Inc., Canada)	Available in Canada as a direct-to-consumer test <sup>140</sup>	Pain and mental health conditions, such as ADHD, depression, and anxiety disorders	Unclear which genes are analyzed	More than 140 medications for pain and mental health <sup>140</sup>
Pillcheck (GeneYouln Inc., Canada)	Available in Canada through a health care provider <sup>17</sup>	A wide range of conditions, including psychiatric disorders, cardiovascular conditions, gastroenterology conditions, and other chronic conditions <sup>81,141</sup>	ABCG2, ADRB2, CYP1A2, CYP2B6, CYP2C19, CYP2C8, CYP2C9, CYP2D6, CYP3A4, CYP3A5, DPYD, F2, F5, G6PD, NAT2, NUDT15, OPRM1, SLCO1B1, TPMT, UGT1A1, UGT2B15, VKORC1 <sup>81,141</sup>	More than 230 medications, including 63 psychotropic medications <sup>141</sup>



Test	Availability	Target conditions	Genes analyzed	Medications included in the test results
RightMed Comprehensive Test (OneOme, LLC., US)	Available in Canada through a health care provider <sup>17</sup>	A wide range of conditions, including ADHD, anxiety, depression, and psychosis <sup>142</sup>	CYP1A2, CYP2B6, CYP2C Cluster, CYP2C9, CYP2C19, CYP2D6, CYP3A4, CYP3A5, CYP4F2, DPYD, DRD2, F2, F5, GRIK4, HLA-A, HLA-B, HTR2C, HTR2A, IFNL4, NUDT15, OPRM1, SLC6A4, SLC01B1, TPMT, UGT1A1, VKORC1 <sup>17,142</sup>	More than 300 medications, including many used for psychiatric disorders <sup>142</sup>
RxReport: Psychiatry & Pain (Personalized Prescribing Inc., Canada)	Available in Canada as a direct-to-consumer test <sup>140</sup>	Pain and psychiatric disorders, including ADHD, anxiety, depression, autism spectrum disorder, and bipolar disorder <sup>143</sup>	ABCB1, ADRA2A, ADRB1, ADRB2, APOE, BDNF, CACNA1C, CNR1, CNRNB2, COMT, CSMD1, COQ2, CYP1A2, CYP2B6, CYP2C9, CYP2C19, CYP2D6, CYP3A4, CYP3A5, DRD2, DRD4, F5, FAAH, FKBP5, GNB3, GRIA1, GRIK4, HLA-B, HSPG2, HTR1A, HTR1B, HTR2A, HTR2C, MC4 R, MTHFR, NEDD4 L, OPRD1, OPRM1, POLG, PRKCA, RGS4, SACM1 L, SCN1A, SCN2A, SLCO1B1, SLC6A2, SLC6A4, TPH1, TPH2, TPMT, UGT1A4, UGT2B15, VKORC1, YEATS4, ZNF804A <sup>17</sup>	Unclear which medications are included in the test results
TreatGx <sup>plus</sup> (LifeLabs Genetics, Canada)	Available in Canada through a health care provider <sup>17</sup>	Cardiovascular, endocrine, gastrointestinal, genitourinary renal, musculoskeletal, neurology, pain, respiratory, and mental health, including ADHD, anxiety disorders, bipolar disorder, depression, and schizophrenia <sup>144</sup>	ABCG2, ADD1, ADRB2, ANKK1, COX1(PTGS1), CYP2B6, CYP2C19, CYP2C9, CYP2D6, CYP2A6, CYP3A5, DYPD, F2, F5, FKBP5, GNB3, GRIK4, HLA-A, HLA-B, HTR2A, HTR2C, IFNL3, KCNIP4, MC4R, MTRNR1, NUDT15, OPRM1, PRKCA, SLCO1B1, TCF7L2, TNF, TPMT, VKORC1, YEATS4 <sup>17</sup>	A wide range of medications, including amitriptyline, aripiprazole, asenapine, atomoxetine, carbamazepine, cariprazine, chlorpromazine, citalopram, clonazepam, clozapine, diazepam, escitalopram, fluvoxamine, haloperidol, imipramine, lamotrigine, lurasidone, olanzapine, oxcarbazepine, paliperidone, paroxetine, quetiapine, risperidone, sertraline, tamoxifen, venlafaxine, vortioxetine, and ziprasidone <sup>144</sup>

ADHD = attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder; OCD = obsessive-compulsive disorder; PTSD = post-traumatic stress disorder; SNRI = serotonin and norepinephrine reuptake inhibitor; SSRI = selective serotonin reuptake inhibitor. Note: Information presented in this table is based on published literature and a review of manufacturers' websites and may not reflect the most recent versions of these pharmacogenomic tests. Manufacturers have not been contacted directly to verify this information.